Selldy v. United States Of America Do¢.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
BRUNSWICK DIVISION

MICHAEL IRVING SELLEY,
Movant, CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2:16cv-88
V.
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (Case No.: 2:16-1)
Respondent.

ORDER and MAGISTRATE JUDGE 'S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

On June 25, 2015, this Court sentenb&dhael Irving Selley (“ Selley) to ninety-seven
(97) months’imprisonmentafter he pleaded guilty to possession of child pornograi@elley
who iscurrently incarcerated at the Federal Correctional IngtittElkton in Lisbon,Ohio, has
now filed a Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct his Sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 22
(Doc. 57.} Selley contends that hietainedtrial counsel, Mr. James B. Smith, rendered
ineffective assistance of counsduring the sentencing phasef his case. (Doc. 5T.)
Specifically, Selley contends that Mr. Smith failed to object to a-pemt offense level
enhancement that Selley reesl in the calculationfdis advisoryGuidelines’ sentencingange
due to Skey having distributedchild pornography. (Id.) However, Selley has failed to
demonstrate that his trial counseperformance fell below the standard expected of criminal
defense attorneys. MoreoyeBelley has failed to demonstrate that any deficiencies in Mr.

Smith's perfomance prejudiced his defense. The -tewxel distribution increase was

! The pertinent record documents in this case are filed on the docRetleys criminal caseUnited
States vSelley, 2:15¢r-1 (S.D. Ga. May 5, 2015), and many are not include8eheys civil docket.
Thus, for ease of reference and consistencyCthet cites tcSelleys criminal docket in this Ordeaind
Report and Recommendation.
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appropriate given the facts before the Court and the applicable law. TherdfloreéSmith's
decision to not object to thisvo-point enhancemenwas reasonableand Selley has failed to
establish a reasonable probability that ahjection would have changéds sentence.

For these reasons set forth more fully beldwnRECOMMEND this Court DENY
Selleys Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct his Sentence for lack of jurisdiction undeg
28U.S.C. § 2255(h). (Doc. 57 Additionally, the CourDISMISSES as mootSelleys Motion
to Compel,(doc. 54) Further, IRECOMMEND that the CourDENY Selleya Certificate of
Appealability andin forma pauperis status on appeaand DIRECT the Clerk of Court to
CLOSE this caseand enter the appropriate judgment of dismissal.

BACKGROUND

On February 5, 2015, the grand jury for the Southern District of Georgia retamed
Indictment againsSelley charging him with six(6) counts: receipt of child pornographiyn
violation of 18 U.S.C.8 2252A(a)(2) (Count One); distribution of child pornograplry
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(2) (Counts Two through Five); g@odsession othild
pornography,n violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(5(B) and (b)(2)(Count Six). (Doc. 1.)
Selley faced not less than five rnmore than twenty yedrsmprisonment as to eaabf the
receipt and distribution counts (Counts One through Five) and not mordwbaty years
imprisonment as to the possession count (Count Six). (Doc. 2.)

However, Selleyand his attorney, MrSmith, were able to negotiate a plea agreement
with the Government wherebgelleyagreed to plead guilty to Count Sk the Indictmentin
exchange for the Government moving to disntiies remaining chargeqDoc. 45.) Under the
terms of the plea agreemeflley promised to, among other thingscknowledge the factual

basis of his plea, cooperate with tBevernment for a downward departure, waive his righa
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direct appealwith limited exceptios), andwaive his right tocollateraly attack his sentence.
(Id.) Pertinently, Selley also agrde

[T]o not object to findings by the U.S. Probation Office that the material

possessed involved a prepubescent minor or a minor who had not attained the age

of 12 years as defined by U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2(b){2at the offense involved

distribution as defined by U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2(b)(3)(F}hat the offense involved

material that portrays sadistic or masochistic conduct or other depictions of

violence as defined by U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2(b)(4); that the offense involved the use

of a computer as defined by U.S.S.@&2.2(b)(6); and that the offense involved

600 or more images as defined by U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2(b)(7).

(Id. at p. 4(emphasis supplied) Selley also affirmed that Mr. Smith had represented him
“faithfully, skillfully, and diligently” and that he was “copletely satisfied” with Mr. Smitls
legal advice and work on his caseéd. @t p. 8.) The Government agreed to movdismiss the
remaining counts, to not object to a recommendation that Selley receive a redachisn i
offense level for acceptance odsponsibility, and to consider whether Seékegooperation
gualified as “substantial assistance warranting a motion for downward depar{ideat pp. 3-

5)

On April 28, 2015, Selley appeared before the Honorable Lisa Godbey Wood for al
change of plea, or Rule 11, proceeding. (Bigk) At the commencement of the hiegr, Judge
Wood explained that the Court understoloat Selley wanted to change his péemiplead guilty
to one of the countgendingagainst him. (Doc. 60, p. 2.) Judge Wood askelieyif this was
correct, and he responded that it wélsl.) Judge Wood explained the purposes of the hearing
includingmakingcertain that Selley understood the case againstdnmring that he was aware
of the rights that he would give up if he pleaded guilty, estdblishinghat there was a factual
basis for the plea of guilty(ld.)

Judge Wood then engaged in an extensive plea colloquySeitby She explained that

the deision to plead guilty was an important one, that the decision was erfedigys




decision, and that she wanted to be certainitbanderstood all of the important considerations
that go into the decision(ld. at pp. 23.) Judge Wood inquired whethanyone had forced
Selleyto plead guilty, and he said no one had done so and that pleading guilty was what
wanted to do. Id. at p. 3)

Judge Wood ha&elleyplaced under oath before asking him a series of questitoh$.
He was able to recount his personal informatiodluding his age, the agef his children, and
his residence. Id. at p. 4.) Selley testified that he completed the tenth grade, obtained his GE
and attended some collegeld.(at pp. 45.) Selley testified that he suffered from manic
depression.(ld.) Judge Wood askeBelleywhether he was cumdy taking medication for that
condition and he responded that he walksl. &t pp. 56.) He also affirmed that his medicatson
adequately addressedmondition. Id. at p. 6.)

Judge Wood then ask&eklleywhether he was able ttonversewith or strategize about
his case witiMr. Smith Selleyresponded that heas able to do so.When Judge Woodsked
Selleyto describethe purpose of the hearinige responded that it was to punish him for the
mistakes that he made and for him to accept responsibility as part of his piaia.bdd.)

Judge Wood explained ®elleythat he was presumed innocent and the Indictment was
not evidence of his guilt.(Id. at pp. 7A8.) She also explainethat he did not have to plead
guilty, and if he chose to persist in his not guilty plea, he would have the right to: @ quodbli
speedy trial by jury; a presumption of innocence during that trial; the assstétrial counsel,
see, hear, confront, and cressamine the Governméstwitnesses and evidence; call witnesses
on his behalf; and testify himself or remain silentd. @t pp. 810) Judge Wood cautioned

Selleyhe would be waiving these rights if he pleaded guilfid.) She explained thatf she
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accepted his guilty plea, there would be no right to trial of any kind, and that whkt nemain
of his case wuld be the sentencing phasdd. @t p. 10.)Selley stated he understoodld.)

Selleyalso stated he anilr. Smith reviewed the Indictment together, that he had the
opportunity to talk taMr. Smithabout the facts of his case and the underlying conduct, as well g
about the proposed plea agreement, andMmaSmith had discussed the law pertaining to his
casewith him. (Id. at pp. 1611) When Judge Wood asked Selley if he was satisfied with Mr.
Smith' s representation, Selley responded, “Very much siol”af p. 1L.) Selley testified that he
did not have any complaints whatsoever autSmith's representation.

Judge Wood reviewed theounts of the Indictment wittselley and discussed the
essential elements of the crimes for which he was chamggwhat the Government would have
to proveif he went to trial. Id. at pp. 1+13.) Selley responded that he understood these
elements and what the Government would have to prove if he went tartdathat he was
pleading guilty because those elememése satisfied as to the count to whible was pleading
guilty. (Id.) Judge Wood advisefelley of the penaltis she could impostr the Countto
which he was pleading guilty. Id. at pp.14-15.) Moreover, Judge Wood explainedSelley
that, in imposing a sentence upon him, she would have to take into consideration the advis
Sentencindgsuidelines and the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3538. at p. 15.) Selleystated
that no one had promised him an exact sentence, and Judge Wood explained thas anyg
estimation of what his sentence might be would in no way bind the Cédirat p.15-16)

Judge Wood affirmed witBelleythat he had giveiMir. Smith permission to negotiate a
plea agreement with the Governmenid. at p.16.) She then asked the Assistant United States
Attorney (“AUSA”) to summarize the provisions of the plea agreement. AUSA SYlages

stated:
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The agreement provides that Mr. Selley will plead guilty to Count 6 of the
indictment. The Government will habject to a recommendation by the US
Probation Office that Mr. Selley receive an appropriate reduction in the offense
level for acceptance of responsibility under the sentergiidglines.

Mr. Selley agrees to not object to findings by the[BBobation[O]ffice that the
material possessed involved a prepubescent minor or a minor who had not
attained the age of 12 years as defined by Sentetiidgline 2G2.2(b)(2xhat

the offense involved distribution as defined by SentencingGuideline
2G2.2(b)(3)f), that the offense involved material that portrayed sadistic or
masochistic conduct or other depictions of violence as defined by Sentencing
GuidelineSection 2G2.2(b)(4), that the offense involved the use of a computer as
defined by Sentencin@uideline2G2.2(b)(6) and that the offense involved 600 or
more images as defined by Sentendthgdeline 2G2.2(b)(7).

Mr. Selley agrees to pay restitution for the full loss caused by his ctimina
conduct, which is not limited to the specific counts to which Ipéeizding guilty.

Mr. Selley agrees to provide full, complete and candid cooperation to the

Government, and the Government in its sole discretion will decide whether that

cooperation qualifies amubstantial assistance that warrants the filing of a motio

for downward departure or reduction in sentence.

At sentencing, the Government will move to dismiss any other counts of the

indictment that remain pending against Mr. Selley and, Your Honor, the plea

agreement provides the Governmentstandard appeal aivers which are

contained on Page 6 of the agreemelitl may tender the agreement fiphe

Court.
(Id. at pp. 1617 (emphasis supplied).) Judge Wood askeelley if AUSA Mayes
summarization of the plea agreement was consistent with the plea agreemgnetieand he
stated it was. Id. at pp. 17-18) Selleyalso stated he read the plea agreerhefdre he signed
it, and Mr. Smith answered any questions he may have had &dfersigned the agreement.
Selleyreaffirmed that no one had made him any promises regarding the outcome of his cg
other than the provisions contained in the plea agreemienk. (

Judge Wood then specifically addressed the direct appeal waiveSalidly, stating the

following:
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| do want to pick back up on something that Mr. Mayes alludednd that is,
contained in thisagreement that yore urgingis a waiverof certainappellate
rights.

It states “Defendant entirely waives his right to a direct appeal of hisatiom

and sentence on any ground.” The only exceptions are three; that is, you would
get a direct appeal right back only if one of these three things were to occur:
Number One, if | were to sentence you above the statutory maximum, then you
could appeal that directly; Number 2, if | were to sentence you above the advisory
guidelinerange as found by me, then you could appeal that directly; or Number 3,
if the Government were to file a direct appeal, then you, too, could file a direct
appeal.

But otherwise, by virtue of this plea agreement, you waive all other direct
appellate rightsUnderstand?

(Id. at pp. 18-19 Selleystated he understood the appeal waiver provisitwh.aip. 19)

Judge Wood also explained that the proposed plea agreement contained a waive
certain of Selleys collateral attack rights. She explained:

It states “Defendant entirely waives his right to collaterally attack hisictomv

and sentencen any ground and by any method including but not limited to a 28

USC Section 2255 motion.”

The only exception to that waiver of collateral attack rights is that yoetdor

the right to collaterally attack your conviction and sentence based on aoflaim

ineffective assistance of counsel; do you understand that waiver?

(1d.) Selleyreplied that hainderstood the collateral attack waiver, and he confirmed thzdde
no questiongbout the plea agreem&vaiver provisions. 1¢.)

Judge Wood asketr. Smith and AUSA Mayes whether they were aware of any
impropriety on the part of the Government in handiBelleys case, and they both responded
no. (d.) Judge Wood then ask&elleywhether he wishetb still plead guilty to Coun®ix of
the Indictment because he was in fact guilty ot Count and he answered in the affirmative.

(Id. at pp. 1920.) Judge Wood also askeselley whether he understood the rights and

privileges he was waiving if she accepted his plea, and he said héddiat p( 20) Judge Wood




determined thatSelley was in possession of all of his faculties, that he understood the

consequences of his plea, that he understood the application of the adsesweyncing
Guidelines, that he and Mr. Smith had discussed the factstlamdaw of the case, and that
Selleys decision to plead guilty was “knowing” and “voluntary.ld.(at pp. 2621.) Selley
responded in agreement with Judge Wood'’s conclusiddsat(p. 21.)

FederalBureau ofinvestigation (“FBI”")Special Agent Willian Kirkconnel provided the
Governmens factual basis for the pleald(at pp. 2324.) Agent Kirkcomell explained that an
investigation by a detective with the FBI Southeast Georgia Child Exploitatssk TForce
“identified an Internet protocol address for a computer that skasing child pornography
through the peeto-peer program Shareaza.”ld(at p. 22(emphasis supplied).)After the
detective was able to download several images of child pornography from the compu
associated with the IRddress, a subpoena confirmed that the IP address was linked to
computer located at Selleyresidence.(Id.) Investigators then obtained a search warrant for
Selleys home, which they executed on October 23, 201dl.af pp. 22—-23.)

During the interview with AgenKirkconnell incident tothe search of Selléy home
Selley admitted to downloading and possessing child pornograply.at(pp. 23-24.) He
specifically stated that he downloaded pornography usingebeto-peer file sharing network
Shareaza foabouta yearto a year and a half.Id. at p. 23.) AgenkKirkconnell testified that a
forensic examination of Selleyyhard drive found 183 videos and 1,077 picturdsch were all
sexually explicit pictugs involving little children and that some of the children had not attaineq
the age of 12 at the time the images were matie.at( pp. 2324.) AgentKirkconnell further

testified that some of the images portrayed sadistic or masochistic coriduet. pp. 24—25.)
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Upon questioning from Judge WoodSelleytestified that hadid not dispute any of the
testimony given byAgentKirkconnel, and he admitted to the truth léfrkconnell’'s testimony.
(Id. at p. 26.) Judge Wood found that there was a factual basis for the plea of guilty,daccepte
Selleys plea, ad adjudged him guilty of Cour@ix the Indictment. Ifl. at p. 26-27.) Judge
Wood advise®elleythat the Probation Office would prepare a Peet€ncenvestigatiorreport

(“PSI”), and the Court would schedule a sentencing hearing after the PSI was disclosed to

Government and the defenséd.X

Prior to Selleys sentencing hearing, United States Probation Officer Paul Skarup
prepared a PSAnd deailed Selleys personal history and characteristias well as his offense

conductand conducted a calculation of Selegdvisory Guideling' range. Pertinently, Officer

Skarupa calculated Sellesytotal offense level as follows:

Offense U.S.S.G.§
level (Nov. 2014)

Baseoffenselevel 18 2G2.2(a)(1)
Materialpossessethvolved prepubescent minor +2 2G2.2(b)(2)
Offenseinvolveddistributionof child +2 2G2.2(b)(3)(F)
pornography
Offenseinvolvedmaterialthat portrayssadistic +4 2G2.2(b)(4)
conduct or other depictions of violence
Offense involved use of computer for +2 2G2.2(b)(6)
possessionfransmission,receipt, or distribution
of child pornography
Offenseinvolved600 or moreimages +5 2G2.2(b)(7)(D)
Acceptancef responsibility -2 3E1.1(a)
Timely notificationof intentto enterguilty plea -1 3E1.1(b)
TOTAL 30

(PSI, 1915-20, 26-27.)

As to the twelevel increase for distributiorRrobationOfficer Skaupa explained that

“[p]ursuant to U.S.S.G. 8202.2(b)(3)(F), if the offense involved the distribution of child

the
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pornography, the base offense level shall be increased by two I&gdsats were successful in
downloading video files of child pornography from the deferidacamputer IP address; faet,
the defendant admitted to downloading and distributing child pornographg.” at(§ 17.)
ProbationOfficer Skarupa also included in the PSI the fact that Selley had been using filg
sharing program Shareaza to obtain child pornograplay.at(Y $8.) Based on a total offense
level of 30 and a criminal history category ofHrobation ®ficer Skarupa concluded that
Selley s Guidelines’ range for imprisonment was 97 to 121 monthkl. &t § 56.) Probation
Officer Skarupa further indicated that the plea agreement significantly teeh8glley, as Selley
would have faced an adviso@uidelines’ range of 151 to 188 months’ imprisonment if he had
pleaded guilty as charged in the Indictmend. &t 57.)

Neither the Government nor Selley filedyaobjections to the PSI. However, Mr. Smith
filed a lengthysentencing memoranduarguing for a sentence below tfaiidelines’ range.
(Doc. 47.) Ms. Smithrelied upon the 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e) sentencing factors and afwmidte
child pornographyGuidelines were empirically flawed in a variety of ways and that Sedley
particular circumstancewarranteda lower sentencéhan theGuidelines advised (Id.) Mr.
Smith contended that the Court should sentence Selley to 48 months’ imprisonicheattp.(9.)

In his arguments against application of Gwdelines, Mr. Smith contested, among other things,
the Guidelines’ increase ofSelley’s sentence for distribution. Mr. Smith contended, “[Mr.
Selley] did not knowingly share filesAny distributian that occurred was the automatic result of
the Shareaza progranAs the Federal Trade Commission has explaifisfhme users may not
understand the configuration of the P2P -§laring softwares ‘shared foldér and may
inadvertently share sensitiverpenal files residing on their hard drivés(ld. at 13 (citing Staff

Report, Federal Trade Commissio®eer-to-Peer File-Sharing Technology: Consumer
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Protection and Computer Issues 7 (2005).) Mr. Smith argued that Sellsydistribution was

unintentionaand a result of the nature and configuration of {fequeer file sharing programs.

(Id. at pp. 1314.) He also argued that the Sentencing Commission had no empirical basis for

providing for a twelevel distribution enhancement that is not for pecyngmin. (d. at gp. 35

36.) Mr. Smith acknowledged that the enhancementieappd cases where there was any
distribution buthe challenged the appropriateness of an increased penalty to someone like Se
whose distribution was as a result of his oka file sharing program.Id. at p. 36.)

At the sentencing hearing, Judge Wood asBelleywhether he had the opportunity to
read and review the P&hd discuss it with Mr. Smith(Doc. 59, p. 2.)Selleyansweed in the
affirmative. (d. at p. 3.) Mr. Smith and counsel for the Government stated that they had r
objections to the factual statements or the application of the adw@sodglines. (d.) Judge
WooddeterminedSelleys total offense level was 3@ith a criminal history categy of I, which
called fora Guidelines’ sentence of 97 to 121 monthmprisonment and fivgearsto life on
supervised releas€ld.)

Judge Wood noted that she had read Mr. Ssgntencingmemorandum but asked if
Mr. Smith or Selley would like to state anything further. Mr. Smith then pointedeweral
factors which he contended warranted a sentence below the adSisdslines’ range. Id. at
pp. 4-7.) Mr. Smith specifically addressd#lde twcelevel enhancement for distributionld(at
pp. 6-7.) He argued thawnhile the site that Selley used was a gegpeer network, Selley was
not technologically savyyand therefore, he did not know that others were downloading materig
from him. (I1d.) Smith argued that the distribution enhancement and the enhancement for use

a computer were the “two that we have the most issue with, Your Honor .Id. &t . 7.)

11
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The Government then called Detective Charles Woodall oFBldaskforceto testify.

(Id. at p. 9.) After laying out his background in computer forensics and investigatizmlaf

pornography crimes, Detective Woodall described the Shareaza computer ptiogtedelley

used to download and share child pornographg. at pp. 16-20.) Detective Woodall testified

to the following pertinent facts:

1.

Shareaza is a computer program that was written and produced to allow
people to share files on the Gnutella network, (id. at p. 10-11);

Shareaza is “predominantly” usbkg the “child pornography community”
(id. at p. 12);

When a computer uséownloads thé&hareaz@rogram, the user must go
through a series of screens to begin using the program, and those screens
alertthe userthat tiey will be sharindiles andto be careful about what

files they sharg(id. at p. 11)

“The whole concept of filsharing is you have to share to get something.
If you dorit share files, thengople will block you. They wdnlet you
get from therfl”, (id. at p. 13);

The program iyes the usecontrol overwhat files the user will be sharing
over the networland to specifically decide what files the user shdids
atp. 11);

In order to obtain a filen the network, a Shareaza user exdeguery that

will then search the shared fillgem all of the other Shareazserswho

are online and return a list of files to the user. The user then selects the
files he wants to download, (id. at p. 12)

Detective Woodall and other agents were able to download child

pornography from Selley that Selley was offering on the Shareaza
network by using a modified version of the Shareaza progrdo. at(

pp. 12-13.) This modified version gave other users fimpression that

the agents were sharing files so that the other users would share files with
the agents(id.);

When anotheuser initiates a download ofuser’sfile through Sheeaza,

the program provides a notification of the download to ther fiom
whom the file is being downloaded, (id. at pp. 13+aayd
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9. Through forensics, Detective Woodall could determine that Selley
watched the entirety of some of the videepicting child pornography on
his hard drive, (id. at pp. 17-19).
On behalf of the Government, Mr. Mayes argued that the Court should sentence Sel
within the Guidelines’ range. Id. at pp. 2+24.) Mr. Mayes contended that Selkeygrime was
not a victimless onend, to that end, he read a statement from a victim depicted in some of t}
images Selley downloaded and viewdd. at pp. 2323.) That victim described trdeeppain
and “never ending” exploitation she experiencevecausepictures of the“most terrifyng
moment$ of her life are being shared onetinternet. Id. at pp. 2223.) She particularly
described theontinuingvictimization she endures due to the fact that “the distribution of thesg
pictures grows bigger and bigger by the day and there is nothing [she] can do abddt &t” (
p. 22.) Mr. Mayes also argued, based on Detective Woadistimony, that under the Shareaza
program, 1f you dorit give, you doft get. So [Selley] knew that he was making these images
available.” (d. at p. 23.)
Judge Wood then gav&elleyan opportunity to speak, amg addressed the Cour{ld.
at pp. 25-26) He contended, as he had to the Probation Officer, that he downloaded t

pornography and viewed the images in order to find images of a man whutalized him

and his sister for years and to “put a stop” to that individuabuse.(ld. at p. 25.) However,

Detective Woodallhad testified that Selley never told agents that one of the reasons he was

looking at the videos was to see if he couldl fimmself in them. I€l. at p. 15.) Selley testified
that Woodalls testimony was a lie because he told Detective WoaddllAgent Kirkconnélof
his intentions during their interwaeof him. (ld. at pp. 25-26.)

After hearing from Mr.Smith the AUSA,and Selleyand having reviewed the PSI and

the sentencing factors of 18 U.S.C. § 3553, Judge Wood sentSetieg to 97 months’
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imprisonment. (Id. at p. 27.) Judge Wodgtated thaSelley had “earned that sentenceld. at

p. 28.) She didhot believe Selleg testimony that Detective Woodall lied on the stand and that
that all Selley “was doing in watching these horrific videos, some of them toetlyelast
second, was trying to catch a man who hurt hinid. gt p. 27.) Judge Wodastated that Selley
should understand how “every person that plays a part in reliving those horrific momants ig
perpetrator and is prolonging unimaginable pain and sHiafiek at p. 27.) Judge Woakhw no
reason to deart from thesentencing range catl for by theGuidelines but shesentenced him at
the low end othatrange given Mr. Smiths argument that the offense level enhancement for use
of a computer is “antiquated.ld( at p. 28.)

After his sentencingSelley and Mr. Smith executed a PosIonviction Consultation
Certificate in which MrSmithcertified that he met witBelley explained t&elleythe appellate
process and his rights, advis8dlleyof the advantages and disadvantages of filing an appeal
and askedvhetherSelley was interested in appealing his conviction. (Doc. 53.After this
consultationSelley“decidednot to file an appeal.”|d.)

DISCUSSION

In his Section 2255 Motion and supportiigief, Selley argues that Mr. Smith rendered
ineffective assistance by failing tdject to Probation Officer Skarugaconclusion that Selley
offense level should be increasedtlw levelsunder U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2(b)(3)(Fpelley argues
that he did not distribute child pornography. (Doc. 57, p@.)3The Government responded to
Selley's Motion arguing that Mr. Smitls performance was not deficient becassley’s
offense “unquestionably” involved the distribution of child pornography. (Doc. 61-3p. tn
his Reply, Selley argues that the Government did not meet its burden of proof at theisgnte

hearing regarding the distribution enhancement. (Doc. 63, pp. 3-4.)
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Whether Selleys Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claimisave Merit
A. Standards for Selley’s Ineffective Assistance Claims
Criminal defendants have a right to effective assistance of counsel atiedll stages of

the proceedings. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). This right extends to the e

of a guilty plea, Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985), and during sentencing proceeding

Glover v. United States, 531 U.S. 198, 202 (2001). Furthermore, the right to effective assista

of counsel includes the right to representation free from conflicts of inteGastier v. Sullivan

446 U.S. 335, 34&60 (1980). Adefendans guilty plea,appeal waiver, or collateral attack
waiver does not preclude an ineffective assistance of counsel claim premisedheolantary

and unintelligent plea. United States v. Puehtedadq 794 F.3d 1278, 1281, 1285 (11th Cir.

2005).

To preval on a claim of ineffective assistance of coun&s)ley must demonstrate
(1) his counsek performance was deficient, i.e., the performance fell below an objectiv
standard of reasonableness, and (2) he suffered prejudice as a result of thamt defic
performance.Strickland 466 U.S. at 6886. “If a petitioner cannot satisfy one prong, nezd

not review the other prong.” Duhart v. United States, 556 F:)>A8p7, 898 (11th Cir. 2014).

Thus, if Selley cannot show prejudice, the Court need not determine whether defendant

allegations show his counsgeperformance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.
The deficient performance requirement concerns “whether cosreglice was within

the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cddifls. 474 U.S. at 56. There

is a strong presumption that counsetonduct fell within the range of reasonable professional

assistance.Davis v. United States, 404 F. App336, 337 (11th Cir. 2010) (citin8trickland

466 U.S. at 686). “It is petitionar burden toestablish that counsel preformed outside the wide
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range of rasonable professional assistdnog making‘errors so serious that [counsel] failed to

function as the kind of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth AmendinémCroy v. United States

739 F.3d 1297, 1312 (11th Cir. 2014) (quoting Butcher v. United States, 368 F.3d 1290, 14

(11th Cir. 2004) (second alteration in original)). “[A] court deciding an actudlertefeness
claim must judge the reasonableness of coumsdtallenged conduct on the facts of the
particular case, viewed as of the time of coussebnduct.” Strickland 466 U.S. at 690.
Further, retrospective judicial scrutiny of counsgberformance “must be highly deferential”
and must “eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight” at 689. “In evaluating performance,
‘counsel is strongl presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all signific
decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgmebeCroy, 739 F.3d at 1312
(quotingStrickland 466 U.S. at 690).

“Showing prejudice requires petitioner to establish a reasonable prob#imalifyout for
counsels unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been diffeleént.”
(internal citation omitted). “The prejudice prong requires a petitioner to mEnate that
seriouslydeficient performance of his attorney prejudiced the defenkk.at 131213. “The

likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” Hmniv. Richter

562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011). A reasonable probability of a different result “is a grigbsidficient
to undermine confidence in the outcomé&trickland 466 U.S. at 694.

Additionally, a movant is not entitled to habeas relief “when his claims are merely
conclusory allegations unsupported by specifics or contentions that in thef theerecord are

wholly incredible.” Tejada v. Dugger, 941 F.2d 1551, 1559 (11th Cir. 1991). “The allegatior]

must be factual and specific, not conclusory. Conclusory allegations arg siot@nough to

warrant a hearing."Chavez v. Seg Fla. Dept of Corr.,, 647 F.3d 1057, 1061 (11th Cir. 2011)
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(citing San Martin v. McNeil 633 F.3d 1257, 1271 (11th Cir. 201l1For a movant proceeding

pro se, the court will liberally construe the pleading, but he or she “must suggest (even i
inartfully) that there isat least some factual support for a claim; it is not enough just to invoke

legal theory devoid of any factual basis.” Jones v. Fla. Parole Gomi@7 F.3d 1105, 1107

(11th Cir. 2015). “An evidentiary hearing may be necessary where the matetsahri in
dispute, but a [movant] is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing when his caenserely
conclusory allegations unsupported by specifics.” Pugh v. Smith, 465 F.3d 1295, 1300 (11th (
2006) (citations omitted). Stated another way, “if a habeas petition does net aétfleggh
specific facts, that if they were true, would warrant relief, the petitioneotisemtitied to an

evidentiary hearing.”Chavez 647 F.3d at 1060 (citing Allen v. Sgdrla. Dept of Corr, 611

F.3d 740, 763 (11th Cir. 2010). Foer, because solemn representations at a plea hearing by
defendant, his attorney, and the prosecutor “carry a strong presumption of aedt{constitute
a formidable barrier in subsequent collateral proceedings,” a meviater “presentatn of
conclusory allegations unsupported by specifics is subject to summary dismissal.”

Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, #84 (1977) (citing Machibroda v. United States, 368 U.S.

487, 495-96 (1962), and Price v. Johnston, 334 U.S. 266, 286—-87 (1948)).

B. SentencingGuidelines Sectior2G2.2(b)(3)(F)

The Sentencing Guidelineapplicable athe time ofSelley’'s sentencing provided for a
two-level increasan an offense levelif the defendant’s child pornography offense involved
distribution U.SS.G. 8 2G2.2(b)(3)(F) (2014). The application notes define “distribution” as:

[A] ny act, including possession with intent to distribute, production, transmission,

advertisement, and transportation, related to the transfer of material involving the

sexual exploitation of a minor. Accordingly, distribution includes posting
material involving the sexual exploitation of a minor on a website for public

viewing but does not include the mere solicitation of such material by a
defendant.
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U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2commentn.1? Conversely,Section2G2.2(b)(1) provides for a twievel
reduction if the defendant only solicited, or sought to receive, child pornograply.S.G.
8 2G2.2(b)(2).

The Eleventh Circuit has repeatedly held ttia distributionenhancement applieghen
a defendant allowsthers to download child pornography througlpeerto-peerfile-sharing

network. United States v. Sprigg666 F.3d 1284, 1287 (11th Cir. 2018jsfribution element of

U.S.S.G. 8§ 2G2.2(matisfied becausda]llowing files to be accessed on the Internet by placing
them in a filesharing folder is akin to posting material on a website for public viewsigen
the user knowingly makes the files accessible to others, the distribution is mfipéee also

United Stags v. Creel783 F.3d 1357, 1360 (11th Cir. 201Bhited States v. Cubero, 754 F.3d

888, 895 (11th Cir. 2014)Jnited States v. Cuella617 F. Appx 966, 970 (11th Cir. 2015);

United States v. Beasle$62 F. Appx 745, 752 (11th Cir. 2014))nited States v. Nelsqm42

F. Appx 496, 498 (11th Cir. 2011United States v. DuFran, 430 F. Ag@B55, 857 (11th Cir.

2011);United States v. Riffe406 F. Appx 341 (11th Cir. 2010)Jnited States v. Williams396

F. Appx 662, 664 (11th Cir. 2010)Indeed the Eleventh Circuit has founthata defendant’s
use of thevery program Selley used in this casaisfiesthe distribution enhancement See

Spriggs 666 F.3d at 1286)Jnited States v. Peterse#i26 F. Appx 852, 853 (11th Cir. 2011)

(defendant admigd to downloading and installing Shareaza program*“ahidd pornography

was downloaded by authorities from [defendgjntomputer in a folder that was open to share

% In 2016, he Sentencing Commission revised Section 2G2.2(b)(3)(F) to provide forlavs¥ increase
“[i]f the defendant knowingly engaged in distributionRegardess, Selley’s conduct in this case meets
the narrower definition, as well as the definition in effect at itme Of his sentence. United States v.
Monetti, 705 F. App’x 865 (11th Cir. 201jwo-level increase imefendant'soffense levelwarranted
under either the narrower amended version of the Sentencing Guidelines or tien vargffect at
sentencing, where defendadrticipated inpeerto-peer file sharing programnd defendantinderstood
that files in the shared folder could be downloaded by other users, defendant kept the progiag on
his computer, and defendant did not dispute that he kept child pornography in tdsfaluizme
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files with any computer with which it was connected. Based on this recerdisthict ourt did

not err in finding that [defendant] committed distribution within the meaning ofiosect
2G2.2(b)(3)(F).”) Moreover, wherea defendant usea peetto-peer filesharing networkto
obtain images anthake some of the images available to other users, he is not entitled to
reduction in offense level under U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2(b)Q)berg 754 F.3d at 8938easley 562

F. App’x at 751.

C. Selleys Claim of Ineffective Assistance

Selley argues that M Smith should have objected to the tlgel enhancementinder
Section2G2.2(b)(3)(F) becauseMr. Smith “knew that [Selley] was not guilty of distribution at
all.” (Doc. 571, p. 4.) Selley contends that he only “installed adilaring program on his
computer that gave othergee access to thenages’, he did not knowingly distribute the images
and he “never admitted to the conduct giving rise to the enhancem@dt)’ (emphasis in
original). Selley also contends thétio be able to distribute the imagygou need to use the
computer. Pettioner was givien [sic] the enhancement under U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2(b)(6), use of
computer. But at sentencing the Judge removed that enhancement. The compuvrewas
used for transmission of the materials, but just to storing thgid.) Selleys argunenst are
blind to the actual facts of his case, ignore his own sworn admissions and the uncontrove
tedimony of others, and disregard binding precedent.

Selley stipulated in his plea agreement that“offense involved distribution as defined
by U.S.S.G. § 2G2.2(b)(3)(F).” (Doc. 4p. 4.) At his plea hearing, AUSA Mayes specifically
recounted this stipulation in his summarization of the plea agreement. (Doc. G6-pp.)
Selley stated, under oath, thatJSA Mayes announcement was consistevith what Selley

signed and agreed to, that he read the plea agreement before he signed it, lindShath
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answered any questions Selley had regarding the agreeméht.at (pp. 1#18.) Agent
Kirkconnell testified that Selley admitted to him thaé used the pedo-peer file sharing
network Shareaza f@pproximatelya yearto a year and a half.Id. at p. 23.) Kirkconn¢lalso
testified that agents were able to obtain images of child pornography frony Selbeigh
Shareazs file-sharing netwik. (Id. at p. 22.)

Selley admitted to the truth of Kirkcontial testimony and told Judge Wood that he did
not dispute any of Kirkconnies statements. Id. at p. 26.) He also responded, “Very much
sd,]” when Judge Wood asked if he was satisfied viith Smith's representation, and he
testified that he did not have any complaints whatsoever with Mr. Smépresentation(ld. at
p. 11) The Court should reje&elleys attempts taontradict his own sworn testimony and plea
hearingdeclarations.Blackledge 431 U.S.at 73—-74 because solemn representations at a plea
hearing by a defendant, his attorney, and the prosecutor “carry a strong ygresush verity”
and “constitute a formidable barrier in subsequent collateral proceedingsgvanta later
“presentation of conclusory allegations unsupported by specifics is subject to rsumma
dismissal. . . .").

The sentencing phaggoceedingf Selleys case further confirm the validity of the
distribution enhancement and the reasonableness oSMith's representation. In the PSI,
ProbationOfficer Skarupa statedAgents were successful in downloading video files of child
pornography from the defend&mtcomputer IP address; further, the defendant admitted tqg
downloading and distributing child pornography.” (P¥$L7.) Selleystated at the sentencing
hearing that hdnad the opportunity to read and review the B& discuss it with Mr. Smith
(Doc. 59, p. 2.) Selley did not object whigln. Smith stated that there were no objections to the

P39’'s facts and conclusions.
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At the sentencing hearingetective Woodward testified that Selley downloaded and
installed the Shareaza program to his computer and that this program is predonuisechttyy
the child pornography community to share child pgnaphy. [d. at pp. 1614.) Woodward
further testified that Selley had to share files to get files and that if Selley did aret fdbs,
other users would have blocked himd. During installation the Shareaza program warned
Selley that he would be shariffiges with other users, and Selley specificatigntrolled what
files on his computehe wished to share with other userfid.) The program notified Selley
when another user was downloading files from his computer and what files were diagnloa
Selley made child pornography available for other users to downlo@d.) Indeed, his
providing child pornographyiles to undercover law enforcement officers ledfederal charges
being levied against him.Id()

Under these facts and the abeawed Eleventh Circuitprecedent, it would have been
foolhardy forMr. Smith to object to the twievel enhancement und&ection2G2.2(b)(3)(F)
Mr. Smith had no obligation to advance an argument that had no legal niBar-Boyzo v.
United States294 F. App’x 558, 560 (11th Cir. 2008) (counsel not ineffective for failing to
pursue a nomeritorious issue.) Furthermore Selley agreed that he distributed child
pornography as part of his plea agreement. Thus, if Mr. Smith had objected to the distribut
enhancement, he would have jeopardized the plea agreement and the benefits that S
received from it. As ProbationOfficer Skarupa indicatedhe plea agreement reduced Selley’s
Guidelines’ exposure by approximately fifipur months. (PSL  57.) Further, despite the
daunting facts and precedent that Sélesase presented, Mr. Smith did not do nothiRgther,
he filed a lengthy sentencing memorandum advancing numerous argumentsgoiwltbe

Guidelines’ treatment of child pornography and arguing against appropriatenessf the
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Guidelines’ recommended sentende Selleys case. (Doc. 47.) Mr. Smith specifically
challenged the propriety of the distribution enhancemehlthile these efforts were not
successful in obtaining the belegBuidelines sentence that Mr. Smith argued for, they did
compel Judge Wood to sentence Selley at the low end &ultelines’ range. Selley has failed
to establish Mr. Smith’efforts wereoutside of theange of competence demanded of attorneys
in criminal cass. Hill, 474 U.S. at 56.

Moreover, even if Mr. Smith had rendered ineffective assistance, Sellefailes to
demonstrate prejudice. In other words, Selley has failed to ah@asonable probability that
the outcome of his case would have been diffeif Mr. Smith had objected to the distribution
enhancement. Selleyarguments that he did not knowingly share child pornography and that h
never admitted to doing so are thwarted by not only the testimony of Agent Kirkcande
Detective Woodard, Wi also Selleys plea agreement and his sworn affirmations of that
agreement. Moreover, Selley admits in his Section 2255 pleadings that he gaveaathss to
his images of child pornography. (Doc. 57-1, p. 4.)

Selley argues thabecause he did not charge others for access to his child pornograph
he should not be held liable for distributiorid. (Selley ‘gave othergree access to the imagés
(emphasis in original) He contends that Eleventh Circuit precedent required tanmave
exchanged child pornography for a *“valuable consideratitm receive an offensievel

enhancement(Doc. 62 (citingSpriggs 684 F.3dat 1284,andUnited States v. Bender, 290 F.3d

1279 (11th Cir. 2002). Selley misunderstands tl@guidelines andhe meanig of the word
“distribution.” Selley confuses the twevel enhancement he actually received under Section
2G2.2(b)(3)(F) and the fivelevel enhancementhat he did not receive under Section

2G2.2(b)(3)(B) While the twelevel enhancement apgd to mere distribution, the fivlevel
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enhancement applies when a defendant distributed child pornography for a thing of vaue. Th
cases whichSelley cites and the arguments he makes are only applicable to that higher
enhancementvhich played no role whatsoever in his sentenéingnder the plain meaning of
the provision applicable to Selfsycase, Section 2G2.2(b)(3)(F), Sellgguld have receive a
two-level enhancement for distributing child pornograpiegardless of whether he did so for
pecuniay gain or whether he received a thing of value in return. U.S.SZ&282(b)(3)(F)
(2014) (“Distribution other than distribution described in subdivisions (A) through (E)
increase by 2 levels.” (emphasis supplied)).

Selley also makes the odd arguinéimat he only used a computer for storing child
pornography and not for transmitting the images. (Do€l,57. 4.) He supports this argument
by contending that Judge Wood removed his-level enhancement for use of a compuigd.)
Selley is mistaken. Judge Wood sentenBetley at the low end of thé&uidelines’ range,
because she found the wusea-computer enhancement “antiquated.” (Doc. 59, p. 28.)
However, she concurred with the Probation Offitext theuse-ofeomputer enancement was
applicable under Section 2G2.2(b)(6) and that Sdl@ffense level was 3Qesulting in a
Guidelines’ range of 97 to 121 monthanprisonment. Ifl. at p. 3.) Furthermorehe evidence
of record makesit abundantly clear thaBelley used acomputer to not only store child

pornography but to also download and distribute child pornography. This evidence includes

® Given DetectiveWoodward’s testimony that the premise of the-gitering network that Selley used is
that “you have to share to get something”, Selley is perhaps fortunatestdat not receive a fivievel
enhancement.See Bender 290 F.3d at 1286 (finding, underrfioer version ofGuidelines, “when a
defendant trades child pornography in exchange for other child pornography, theéadéfeas engaged
in ‘distribution for the receipt, or expectation of receipt, of a thing of valud'g.be clear, the mere use
of a peerto-peer filesharing network to download child pornography, which by default allows other
users to access those same images, does not support the application of a 8§ 2@)Xhh@)cement
absent “some other evidence, whether direct or circumdtathiza [the] defendant reasonably believed
that he would receive something of value by making his child pornography fildéstdedor distribution
..” United States v. Vadnais, 667 F.3d 1206, 1209 (11th2Q12). However, the Court need not
decide whether Selley had such belgf he did not receive the fievel “thing of value” enhancement.
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Selleys own admissions in the plea agreement, Agent Kirkcbsnetstimony at the plea
hearing (thatSelley agreed with under oath), and Detective Woodardncontroverted
testimony. Selleég conclusory allegations to the contrary lack any modicum of credibility.

For all of these reasons, the Court shdDENY Selley’s claims that his trial counsel
rendered ineffective assistandecounsel.
I. Whether Selley Successfully Challenges his Sentence

From Selleys initial Motion, it appeared that he only took issue with Mr. Smith
performance and that he did not directly attack the Cowapplication of theGuidelines.
However, heappears to challenge his sentence direictihis Reply. (Doc. 62, p. 4The
Government did not meet its burden of proof to this and therefore the enhancement wes apg
in error.”).) Thus, in abundance of caution, | will assesgether Selley has successfully
attackechis sentengeas opposed to his counsel’s performance at sentencing.

As an initial matterSelleyprocedurally defaulted an attack on his sentence, because
did not challenge his sentence on direct appéadleed, he did ndtle any appeal in this case.
Rather, Selleyiled a waiver of appeal indidag that he had conseltl with Mr. Smith regarding
an appeaénd that Selley did not want to appe@Doc. 53.) In the Eleventh Circuit, under the
procedural default rule, “aeflendant generally must advance an available challenge to a criming
conviction or sentence on direct appeal or else the defendant is barred frommydbanttlaim

in a 8 2255 proceeding.”"McKay v. United States657 F.3d 1190, 1196 (11th Cir. 2011)

(internal citation and punctuation omitted). The procedural default ‘igl@either a statutory
nor a constitutional requirement, but it is a doctrine adhered to by the courts¢ovegnslicial
resources and to respect the 'lewnportant interest ithe finality of judgments’ Id. (quoting

Massaro v. United StateS38 U.S. 500, 504 (2003)).
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A showing of “cause and prejudice” can overcome a defetsidefault. 1d.* More
specifically, a defendant can overcome “application of the procedural default shpWwyjing]
cause for not raising the claim of error on direct appeal and actual prejudicéh&caiieged

error.” 1d. (citing Lynn v. United States, 365 F.3d 1225, 1234 (11th 2Z004) (alteration in

original)). To show cause for procedural default, a defendant must show that “some object
factor external to the defense prevented [him] or his counsel from raisintpinns ©n direct
appeal and that this factor cannot be fairly attributable to [defeaflanin conduct.” Lynn, 365
F.3d at 135. A meritorious claim of ineffective assistance of counsel can constitige t@au

excuse a procedural defaultnited States v. Nyhuis, 211 F.3d 1340, 1344 (11th Cir. 2000).

However, a defendant does not clear the procedural default hurdle mempking the phrase
“ineffective assistance” or making conclusory allegations about coansaiformance. As the
Eleventh Circuit has explained

In order to [excuse procedural default], however, the claim of ineffective
assistance must have meriGréee v. United States, 880 F.2d 1299, 1305(11th
Cir. 1989).] To determine whether it does, we must decide whether the arguments
the defendant alleges his counsel failed to raise were significangletounave
affected the outcome of his appediller v. Dugger 858 F.2d 1536, 1538 (11th

Cir. 1988). Appellate counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise claims
“reasonably considered to be without merit.” _Alvord v. Wainwright, 725 F.2d
1282, 1291 (11th Cir. 1984).

Id. As discussedbove Selleys claim of ineffective assistance of counsel lacks méitthe
very least,given the facts and precedeitt,was reasonable for MiSmith to consider that
challengingSelleys Section 2G2.2(b)(3)(F@nhancemenivould be meritless. Furthegelley

has filed to show that angrgumentsMr. Smith supposedly should have made would have

* “Under the actual innocence exceptioas interpreted by current Supreme Court doctriaenovants
procedural default is excused if he can show that he is actually innocent eithercdfne of conviction
or, in the capital sentencing context, of the sentence its®l€Kay, 657 F.3dat 1196(citing Dretke v.
Haley, 541 U.S. 386, 388 (2004)). However, this exception is not applicable to’SeHeg.
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affected the outcome of his casi short,Selleyhas failed taneetthe “cause and prejudice”
necessary to excuse his procedural default.

In addition,Selleys plea agreemnts comprehensive collateral attack waiver provides
independenandsufficient groundfor the Court to dismiss any direct challergley makes to
the Courts application of th&uidelines> When a defendant enters a guilty plea pursuant to
Rule 11 proceedings, “there is a strong presumption that the statements nragléhdurolloquy

are true” anchis plea is knowing and voluntaryUnited States v. Gonzalddercadg 808 F.2d

796, 800 n.8 (11th Cir. 1987)lt is well-settled that a waiver of appéand collateral attack
provisionscontained in a plea agreement andorceable if the waiver is knowing and voluntary.

United States v. Johnson, 541 F.3d 1064, 1066 (11th Cir. 2008) (diited States v. Weaver

275 F.3d 1320, 1333 (114@ir. 2001)). “To establish the waives validity, the government
must showeither that (1) the district court specifically questioned the defendant about thg
provision during the plea colloquy, or (2) it is manifestly clear from the recordhiaefendant

fully understood the significance of the waiver.United States v. Mottola, 394 F. App567,

568 (11th Cir. 2010) (quotingnited States v. Benitezapata 131 F.3d 1444, 1446 (11th Cir.

1997)). “A waiver of the right to appeal includes a waiver ofrtgbt to appeal difficult or
debatable legal issuesndeed, it includes a waiver of the right to appeal blatant eridnited

States v. Howle, 166 F.3d 1166, 1169 (11th Cir. 1999). “Waiver would be nearly meaningless

it included only those appeals that border on the frivolous.” Brown v. United States, 256

App'x 258, 261-62 (11th Cir. 2007).

® To be clear, the collateral attack waiver does not bar Selley’s ineffexgsistance of counsel claim
discussedherein

¢ “Appeal” refers to the right to appeal or contest, directly or coiiie a sentence United States v.
Bushert, 997 F.2d 1343, 1350 & n.17 (11th Cir. 1993). Case law concerning waiver of a direct appeal
also been applied to waiver of the right to collateral proceedingscaOrtiz v. United States320

F. Supp. 2d 1362, 1365-67 (N.D. Ga. 2004).
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As detaied above, Judge Wood directly questioned Selley about the collateral attag
waiver during the plea colloquy. (Doc. 60, p. 19.) Moreover, the sufhee collateral attack
waiver covers challenges other than ineffective assistance of coukselher, the record,
including Selley’s sworn statements at the Rule 11 hearing, demosigtattais guilty plea and
his waiver of collateral were made knogly and voluntarily. Indeed, he does not challenge the
voluntariness of his plea in his Section 2255 Motidiwus, to the extent that Selley attathis
Court’s application of theéhtencingGuidelines, havaivedthat challengén his plea agreement.

Further, even if Selley had not waived the right to collaterally attack hierssn the
Court should deny his arguments on the merits. As set forth ath@véactsof Selley’'s case
demonstrate that he distributed child pornography through &Hdengprogram. Eleventh
Circuit precedent clearly establesh that his distribution warrants a twevel offense
enhancemerpursuant td&Section 2G2.2(b)(3)(F). Thus, Selley has failed to show that the Cour
committed any error in sentencing himuch less @or warranting resentencing.

Il . Leave to Appealin Forma Pauperisand Certificate of Appealability

The Court should also det8elleyleave to appeah forma pauperis. ThoughSelleyhas,
of course, not yet filed a notice of appeal, it would be appropriate to addressshuesein the
Court’s order of dismissal. Fed. R. App.Z22(a)(3) (trial court may certify that appeal of party
proceedingn forma pauperis is not taken in goodhith “before or after the notice of appeal is
filed”). An appeal cannot be takanforma pauperis if the trial court certifies that the appeal is
not taken in good faith. 28 U.S.C. § 1915(a)(3); Fed. R. App. P. 24(a)(3). Good faith in th

context must be judged by an objective standard. Busch v. Cty. of Volusia, 189 F.R.D. 687, §

(M.D. Fla. 1999). A party does not proceed in good faith when he seeks to advance a frivolg

claim or argument. See Coppedge v. United States, 369 U.S. 438, 445 (19@2)xlaim or
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argument is frivolous when it appears the factual allegations are clearly bagelksslagal

theories are indisputably meritlesdleitzke v.Williams, 490 U.S. 319, 327 (1989 arroll v.

Gross 984 F.2d 392, 393 (11th Cir. 1993An in forma pauperis action is frivolous, andhus,
not brought in good faith, if it iSwithout arguable merit either in law or fdct.Napier v.

Preslicka 314 F.3d 528, 531 (11th Cir. 2008ke als@rown v. United States, Nos. 407CV085,

403CR001, 2009 WL 307872, at *1-2 (S.D. Ga. Feb. 9, 2009).
Additionally, under 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(1), an appeal cannot be taken from a final order
in a habeas proceeding unless a certificate of appealability is issued. nPtodrale 11 of the
Rules Governing Section 2255 cases, the Coutust issue or denyertificate of appealability
when it enters a final order adverse to the applitaAt.certificate of appealability may issue
only if the applicant makes a substantial showing of a denial of a constitutighal The
decision to issue a certificate appealability require$an overview of the claims in the habeas

petition and a general assessment of their meriMdiller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 336

(2003). In order to obtain a certificate of appealability, a petitioner must ‘sihadvjuristsof
reason could disagree with the district ctintesolution of his constitutional claims or that
jurists could conclude the issues presented are adequate to deserve encouragproeeed
further” 1d. “Where a plain procedural bar is present andlibieict court is correct to invoke it
to dispose of the case, a reasonable jurist could not conclude either that thtecdistrierred in
dismissing the petition or that the petitioner should be allowed to proceed furtS&ck v.

McDaniel 529 U.S. 473, 484 (200(yee alsd-ranklin v. Hightower, 215 F.3d 1196, 1199 (11th

Cir. 2000). “This threshold inquiry does not require full consideration of the factual or legaj

bases adduced in support of the clainitler-El, 537 U.S. at 336.
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Based on theabove analysis of the pleadingsnd applying the Certificate of
Appealability standards set forth above, there are no discernable ugstleyg of a certificate of
appeadbility; therefore, the Court shouENY the issuance of a Certificate of Appealdpil
If the Court adopts this recommendation and defadkeya Certificate of AppealabilitySelley
is advised that htmay not appeal the denial but may seek a certificate from the court of appeg
under Federal Rule of Appatk Procedure 22. Rule 11(a) of Rules Governing Section 2255
Cases. Furthermore, as there are noefrigalous issues to raise on appeal, an appeal would not
be taken in good faith. Thus, the Court should likevENY in forma pauperis status on
appeal.

CONCLUSION

For the dovestatedreasons| RECOMMEND the CourtDENY Selleys Section 2255
Motion, (doc. 57),DIRECT the Clerk of Court taCLOSE this case and enter the appropriate
judgment of dismissal, andENY Selleya Certificate of Appealability anoh forma pauperis
status on appeal. The ColMSMISSES as mootSelley’s Motion to Compel, (doc. 54).

The CourtORDERS any party seeking to object to this Report and Recommendation t
file specific written objections withifourteen (14) daysof the date on which this Report and
Recommendation is entered. Any objections asserting that the Magistratdalledig address
any contention raised in the pleading must also be included. Failure to do so willbatea
challenge or review of the factual findings or legal conclusions of the Matgistudge.See28

U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(C);_ Thomas v. Arn, 474 U.S. 140 (1985). A copy of the objections must

served upon all other parties to the action. The filing of objections is not a proper vehiq

through which to make new allegations or present additional evidence.
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Upon receipt of objections meeting the specificity requirement set out abbiraieal
States District Judge will makeda novo determination of those portions of the report, proposed
findings, or recommendation to which objection is made and may accept, rejeaidity m
whole or in part, the findings or recommendations made by the Magistrate JuajgetioDs not
meeting the specificity requirement set out above will not be considered byriatlJisdge. A
party may not appeal a Magistrate Judgeeport and recommendation directly to the United
States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. Appeals may be made only fraral a fi
judgment entered by or at tldeection of a District Judge. The CoWtRECTS the Clerk of
Court to serve a copy of this Report and Recommendation 8pley and the United States
Attorney for the Southern District of Georgia.

SO ORDERED andREPORTED and RECOMMENDED, this 7th day of February,

2018.

o
J ) ,‘<j- /S, /

R. STAN BAKER
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
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